RECEIVED

Oct 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Deadre Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001124

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Melshaun Antwan Robinson,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
S.C. Bar No. 77712

PRICE BENEWITZ LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act when the Court abused its discretion in finding Appellant did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence the requisite elements of self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 27, 2021, the City of Charleston Police Department arrested Melshaun A. Robinson (“Appellant”) for Murder, Attempted Murder, and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime.

On January 26, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Section 16-11-450 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”)). (R. 1 – 4). Appellant subsequently filed a Memorandum in Support of Immunity on June 20, 2024. (R. 278 – 285).

On June 3, 2024, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for Murder, Attempted Murder, and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime (“Possession of a Weapon”). (R. 1050 – 1058).

On June 20, 2024, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson for an evidentiary hearing on the motion to dismiss. (R. 13 – 252). Blair C. Jennings represented Appellant, and Benjamin C. Simpson and Sara Bozarth represented the State. The State then filed its Memorandum in Response to Defense’s Motion to Dismiss on June 24, 2024. (R. 5 – 12).

On June 24 – 27, 2024, Appellant proceeded to trial before Judge Jefferson and a jury. (R. 321 – 1011). Blair C. Jennings represented Appellant, and Benjamin C. Simpson and Sara Bozarth prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned guilty verdicts for Murder, the lesser-included offense of Assault and Battery, first degree, and Possession of a Weapon. (R. 992). The Trial Court sentenced Appellant to thirty-three (33) years for the Murder conviction; ten (10) years for the Assault and Battery conviction; and five (5) years for the Possession of a Weapon conviction. (R. 1009; R. 1056 – 1067).

On July 3, 2024, Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal. (R. 1068 – 1069).

On September 30, 2024, Judge Jefferson issued an Order denying the Appellant's Motion for Immunity from Prosecution after this Court had appellate jurisdiction (filed on October 8, 2024). (R. 294 - 320).

This brief of Appellant appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Background

On April 25, 2021, Appellant worked as the Assistant General Manager at the King Street Cabaret (“the club”) in Charleston, an adult entertainment business where female dancers perform in various stages of undress in the main bar area and in private rooms with patrons for an agreed upon price. (R. 86, line 16 – 87, line 6). Appellant wore a medical boot and used a scooter to move around the strip club that night because of a recent surgery on his fractured foot.

Zabdiel Tinoco-Hernandez (“Decedent”) and Jaziel Armenta-Zavala (“Armenta”) visited the club that day. Armenta met a frequent patron of the business, Steven Laribo, and discussed receiving a joint private dance from Hannah Catherine Perlitz (formerly Manzi).¹ Armenta and Laribo negotiated with Perlitz, and they agreed to receive a joint private dance for \$300.00 to \$400.00, equally sharing the financial responsibility to pay for the dance.

Perlitz testified that during the joint dance, Armenta “monopolized” the dance, kept pulling her towards him, was “mimicking sex” with her by moving her around roughly and quickly, tried to put his hands in her underwear, and exposed his penis. Perlitz also testified that the private dance continued after Laribo left the room. (R. 36, line 1 – 39, line 13).

Perlitz further testified that throughout the dance she tried to “redirect” Armenta, but when he exposed himself, she terminated the dance. Perlitz testified that she does not remember the full amount that Armenta agreed to pay for the dance, but at the end of the dance, he refused to pay the agreed upon price stating, “you're trying to take advantage of me.” (R. 37, line 25 – 40, line 2). Perlitz testified that an argument ensued, and she informed Armenta that she would notify the manager. Perlitz testified that Armenta responded, “Do that and I'll beat his ass.” (R. 40, lines 3-

¹ This witness is listed as Hannah Manzi in the immunity hearing transcript dated June 20, 2024.

9).

Perlitz testified that the Decedent overheard the argument and offered to help pay for the private dance. The surveillance video reflects that the Decedent and Armenta remained in the club for some time after that private dance before exiting the club. Perlitz testified that she was encouraged to inform the manager about what occurred during the private dance, and she ultimately did inform Appellant about Armenta's conduct. (R. 41, line 6 – 42, line 5).

Surveillance Video Recordings

At 8:17:39 PM, the Decedent and Armenta can be seen on surveillance video recordings leaving the club. (Defense Exhibit #16 Flash Drive (DE 16 Individual Video M.R.)) At 8:17:45 PM, Appellant can be seen entering the doorway making comments to the Decedent and Armenta, and they proceed to exchange words until 8:18:14 PM when Appellant returns inside the club, and the Decedent and Armenta continue walking away from the building.

At 8:18:31 PM, Appellant is then seen on retrieving a firearm from his office. Appellant places the firearm in his back waistband and proceeds to the parking lot exiting the club at 8:18:52 PM. Appellant stops and is seen looking around the parking lot at 8:18:58 PM. From 8:19:03 PM to 8:19:11 PM, Appellant walks to the edge of the parking lot near King Street Extension.

At 8:19:30 PM, the Decedent and Armenta are in a vehicle that turns onto Courtland Avenue near King Street Extension. The Decedent's vehicle is approximately forty-five (45) feet away from Appellant when another verbal exchange occurs between Armenta and Appellant from 8:19:30 PM to 8:20:07 PM. During this verbal exchange, Armenta can be seen hanging out of the window, and Appellant is seen throwing an object purportedly causing damage to the side panel of the Decedent's vehicle. The Decedent and Armenta exit the vehicle and begin to approach Appellant.

At 8:20:26 PM, Appellant brandished his firearm and pointed it towards the Decedent and Armenta, causing Armenta to back away, and the Decedent to shield himself with a car. At 8:20:31 PM, Appellant pursued Armenta, and a physical altercation ensued at 8:20:38 PM. The Decedent also engaged in the physical altercation with Appellant at 8:20:45 PM. During this altercation, Appellant fell off the scooter that he used to walk because of his broken foot in a boot.

At 8:20:48 PM, Appellant threw the Decedent to the ground and broke free from the altercation, Appellant then fired multiple shots at the Decedent, striking him. Appellant fired five (5) additional shots at the Decedent and Armenta. The Appellant then began to hobble away from the incident location at 8:21:17 PM. The only firearm recovered from the scene was Appellant's gun.

Immunity Hearing

On June 20, 2024, Appellant appeared before Judge Jefferson for an evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Section 16-11-450 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (R. 13 – 252). Defense Counsel called the following witnesses to testify at the immunity hearing: Dr. Hannah Catherine Perlitz, Steven Christopher Laribo, Heather Diamond, and Melshaun Antwan Robinson. The State then called the following witnesses to testify: Jaziel Armenta-Zavala and Detective Daniel Wilson. The parties stipulated that the Decedent “died as the result of multiple penetrating and perforating indeterminate-range gunshot wounds.” (R. 297). The parties further stipulated that Armenta “suffered from two gunshot wounds. (R. 297). The first was a gunshot wound to the right hip . . . The second was a grazing gunshot wound to the front of the scalp.” (R. 297).

Hannah Catherine Perlitz (formerly Manzi)

Dr. Hannah Catherine Perlitz (formerly Manzi) testified that she is currently doing her

residency in Anesthesiology at Grand Strand Hospital. (R. 25, line 15 – 26, line 8). She testified that at the time of the incident, she was in her second year of medical school at the Medical University of South Carolina in Charleston. She also testified that she was working at the club as a private dancer one (1) to three (3) times a week. Perlitz further testified that she had been working at the club for about three (3) weeks prior to the incident. (R. 28, lines 2-5).

Perlitz testified that she mainly socialized with customers at the bar and offered private dances as opposed to dancing on the stage. (R. 28, lines 18-25). Perlitz stated that semi-private dances were twenty-five (25) dollars to thirty-five (35) dollars per song, and that the club took fifty (\$50) dollars per song. Perlitz testified that the dancers set the prices for private dances, and that the price typically ranged from one hundred fifty (150) to three hundred (300) dollars for fifteen (15) minutes. She testified that the club takes fifty (50) dollars per fifteen (15) minutes, and that the dancers paid the bouncer/manager at the conclusion of each private dance.

Perlitz testified that on the night of the incident, she was asked by two (2) men at the bar for a private dance (Armenta and Laribo). (R. 31, lines 12-16). Perlitz testified that it was not typical to give two (2) men a private dance at the same time, but she agreed to the joint dance as she had previously done a joint dance with a man and a woman. Perlitz testified that she witnessed Armenta drinking and believed he was intoxicated. Perlitz testified that she observed Armenta slurring his speech and swaying.

Perlitz testified that Armenta was wearing a fanny pack across his chest. (R. 33, lines 4-8). She testified that she and the two (2) men went to the private dance room together, where one gentleman would pay for the first dance, and the other gentleman would pay for the second dance. She testified that she does not remember the exact amount agreed upon for the dances. Perlitz testified that, at the time of the private dance, the two (2) men were sitting on the same couch while

she was dancing. She testified that she removed all her clothing except her underwear.

Perlitz testified that Armenta monopolized the dance and kept pulling her towards him. (R. 36, lines 1-11). She testified that Armenta was gripping her tightly, moving her around quickly and roughly, and was mimicking sex with her. She also testified that Armenta tried to put his hands inside of her underwear several times. She further testified that Armenta picked her up, dropped her, and pushed her against the wall. (R. 38, lines 9-13). Perlitz stated that she told Armenta several times to stop.

She further testified that Laribo left the dance early and the private dance continued. Perlitz testified that Armenta exposed his penis about thirteen (13) minutes into the private dance, and she decided to terminate the private dance. (R. 38, line 16 – 39, line 4). Perlitz testified that once the dance concluded Armenta paid her one hundred (\$100) dollars but did not pay the agreed amount. Perlitz testified that she informed Armenta that she would have to get the manager if he did not pay.

Perlitz testified that Armenta responded, “Do that and I’ll beat his ass.” (R. 40, lines 3-9). She testified that she was employed at the club until the early summer of 2023. She testified that during the remainder of her employment she never encountered another patron this rough or aggressive. (R. 42, line 17 – 43, line 2). She further testified that the Decedent heard her and Armenta arguing about the money and entered the private dance room. She testified that the Decedent offered to help pay for the private dance, but she does not remember if the Decedent ever gave her money.

Perlitz testified that after her encounter with Armenta, she discussed the encounter with Laribo and another individual. She testified that the two (2) individuals encouraged her to request that Appellant ask the Decedent and Armenta to leave the club. (R. 41, lines 5-15). Perlitz further

testified that law enforcement did not follow up with her until approximately a week prior to trial. (R. 43, lines 11-24).

On cross-examination, Perlitz testified that there is no possibility that Armenta had any confusion regarding the price of the dance. She acknowledged that she did not initially share every detail with law enforcement. Specifically, Perlitz testified she did not share that Armenta exposed his penis during the private dance. Perlitz further testified that she gave a lengthy statement to the Charleston County Public Defender's investigator on June 2, 2021, but did not mention Armenta exposing his penis. Perlitz testified that she gave another statement to the Public Defender's investigator on June 10, 2021, and mentioned that Armenta exposed his penis. (R. 48, line 18 – 49, line 13).

Perlitz testified that she doesn't remember if she told Appellant that Armenta exposed his penis. However, Perlitz testified she shared with Appellant that she was uncomfortable and didn't feel safe around Armenta.

Steven C. Laribo

Steven C. Laribo testified that he is retired from the US Air force and has resided in the Charleston area since 1993. (R. 53 – 54). Laribo testified that he and his friends would meet at the club about every two (2) to three (3) months. Laribo arrived at the club around 5:00 PM to 5:30 PM on the night of the incident but none of his friends showed up to the club. He further testified that he knew Appellant from his prior experience at the club. (R. 55, lines 1-2).

Laribo testified that he did not know Armenta's name, but remembered that he was wearing a fanny pack on the night of the incident. Laribo also could not recall the dancer's name. Laribo saw Armenta drinking and could tell that he had consumed a couple of drinks. (R. 58, line

20 – 59, line 4). This was evident to Laribo by Armenta's persistence and slurred speech. Laribo testified that Armenta was persistent in requesting a private dance from Perlitz.

Laribo testified that he and the Armenta received a “double dance.” Laribo also testified that he had never participated in a “double dance” prior to the night of the incident. He testified that the “other guy” insisted on a “double” so he went ahead and did it. Laribo testified that prior to the private dance, Perlitz informed him and Armenta of the price, and they agreed to each pay for their dance.

Laribo testified that Armenta was all over Perlitz (“more aggressive” and “all over her”), and “it was pretty much the two of them.” (R. 58, line 12). Laribo stated that he paid Perlitz and left the room when the song was over for his private dance. Armenta and Perlitz remained in the private room for more than one song after Laribo left the room. Laribo testified that Perlitz appeared upset after the private dance with Armenta, and he encouraged Perlitz to speak with Appellant. (R. 59, line 25 – 60, line 25).

Heather Diamond

Heather Diamond testified that she is an employee at the club and had worked there since October of 2020. (R. 64, lines 3-4). On the night of the incident, Diamond testified that she was working the reception desk area at the entrance of the club and arrived to work at 8:00 PM. Diamond testified that she typically checks at the door for identification, compliance with dress code, and takes payment for the cover charge.

Diamond testified that she noticed Armenta wearing a “sling bag” on the night of the incident. (R. 68, line 6-10). Diamond testified that she observed Appellant tell the Decedent and Armenta in the doorway of the club, “Do me a favor and don't come back.” (R. 68, lines 17-25).

Diamond testified that Appellant was calm and assertive, and Armenta was “rowdy” and did not want to be told to leave.

Diamond testified that Appellant never touched the Decedent or Armenta while they were in the club. Diamond observed Appellant leave the doorway, re-enter the club, and then leave the club again. She did not observe Appellant carrying anything as he exited the club and did not witness the incident in the parking lot. Diamond also provided a statement to the police on the night of the event. (R. 71, lines 1-10).

On cross-examination, Diamond testified that the front door to the club is a heavy metal door that can be locked. She also testified she had no idea how to lock the door, but the manager would have that knowledge. She further testified that the club does not like for patrons to bring bags inside the club, but she has never checked anyone’s bag.

She testified that the Decedent and Armenta were angry and yelling as they were being escorted out of the club. (R. 73, line 22 – 74, line 17). Diamond testified that Armenta and Appellant had a verbal exchange after the Decedent and Armenta were escorted out of the club. Diamond testified that the front door was open while this verbal exchanged occurred, and that she heard Appellant’s words over the music but did not hear their response. She further testified that she gave a verbal statement to the police based on what she saw but does not recall giving any form of written statement to the police that night. (R. 71, line 3 – 72, line 7).

Appellant Melshuan Robinson

Appellant testified about his personal life, which included a time line of his upbringing and work history. (R. 78 – 83). He testified that he was forty-one (41) years of age and explained that he was born with Asthma. Appellant maintained that although he played sports growing up, he was unable to be his best due to asthma. Appellant also testified that at the time of the incident,

he was suffering from a work related injury to his foot. The injury required corrective surgery, including the placement of plates and screws in his foot. Appellant had to wear a boot and use a scooter to get around because he was not able to put pressure on his foot.

Appellant then went on to testify about how the club operated. Appellant was initially employed as a floor host at the club but was promoted to general manager after one and a half (1.5) years of employment. (R. 86). Appellant testified that he was employed at the club for approximately five (5) or six (6) years and was a general manager on the date of the incident.

Appellant testified that the dancers who worked on stage kept one hundred (100) percent of their money. However, the dancers who offered semi-private and private dances had to pay the club to use the private rooms. The dancers charge in fifty (\$50) dollar increments and they each “settle up” and pay the general manager after each dance. There are four (4) “champagne” rooms. Appellant identified that he was sitting in the back corner of the club where he could elevate his injured foot on the date of the incident. Appellant testified that he normally would have occupied the “manager’s chair.” (R. 91, lines 3-24).

Appellant testified that he was not able to lock the front door from inside because it required an Allen key. Appellant testified that after he was notified of the incident between Armenta and Perlitz. Appellant testified that he told the Decedent and Armenta to leave and not come back. Specifically, he told the Decedent and Armenta, “Leave. Don’t come back. We don’t treat women like that in America.” (R. 95, lines 17-18).

Appellant testified that while he was arguing with Armenta, the Decedent was “pretty chill.” Appellant further testified that Armenta stated, “You don’t want to fuck with me. I’ll kill you. I’ll kill everybody. I’ll kill that snitching bitch.” (R. 96, lines 15-17). Appellant testified that he did not take the threats seriously at first because he hears threats every night at the club.

However, Appellant testified that he did not take the threats seriously until the Armenta unzipped his satchel and placed his hand inside. Appellant testified when the Armenta unzipped his satchel, the Decedent grabbed Armenta and pulled him away from the door. Appellant testified after that exchange, he should get their vehicle plate number. Appellant then went to retrieve his firearm from inside the club.

Appellant testified that after retrieving his firearm, he went out to the parking lot to obtain the license plate number from the Decedent's vehicle in case they returned. Appellant testified that he had no intention of shooting or engaging with the Decedent and Armenta when he exited the club. Appellant heard screaming and yelling but could not tell where it was coming from until the Decedent's vehicle pulled up to the stop sign at the King Street Extension. Appellant testified that he was approximately forty-five (45) to fifty (50) feet away from the Decedent's vehicle. (R. 101, lines 2-7).

Appellant testified that he did not signal for the Decedent and Armenta to stop. (R. 104, lines 2-6). Appellant saw Armenta "hanging out of the window" stating how he was going to fuck Appellant up and kill Appellant. (R. 102, line 13-16). Appellant testified that he did not threaten the Decedent or Armenta, but simply said, "Carry y'all ass on." Appellant testified that he did not prevent the Decedent and Armenta from leaving. (R. 104, lines 9-12).

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