RECEIVED

Nov 13 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

MELSHAUN ANTWAN ROBINSON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001124

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

SCARLETT WILSON
Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400

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

ARGUMENT

The order denying immunity should be affirmed where the trial judge clearly set out and applied the appropriate legal standards that guided her decision and also set out the controlling findings of facts which are amply supported by the evidence presented in the pre-trial hearing.

The Protection of Persons and Property Act (the Act) provides that an individual who is justified in the use of deadly force can seek immunity from civil and criminal liability at a pre-trial hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450; *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013). To obtain immunity, the accused must establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he was justified in his use of deadly force. *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). The circuit court “must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). The trial judge hearing the request for immunity “should at the least make specific findings on the elements” sufficient for appellate review. *State v. McCarty*, 437 S.C. 355, 374, 878 S.E.2d 902, 912 (2022) (“a circuit court, as the designated fact-finder in this matter, must provide adequate findings to support its decision so an appellate court can perform its role of reviewing the ruling under an abuse of discretion standard”); *see also State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019) (“while the circuit court may not have set forth every detail of its analysis in the record, the record is nevertheless adequate for a reviewing court to determine that the circuit court applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court’s precedent”).

To put it plainly, to obtain immunity, a defendant must either satisfy all four elements of self-defense by a preponderance, to the trial court’s satisfaction, or three of the elements plus Sections (A) and (B) or Section (C) of the Act if it applies. *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019). A preponderance “stated simply is that evidence which convinces us as to its truth.”

Semken v. Semken, 379 S.C. 71, 75, 664 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2008). The trial court must consider the following elements in determining whether a movant has met his burden:

- (1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) if his defense is based upon his actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and
- (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

If a defendant only meets the first two elements, then he must also prove he meets the applicable section(s) of the Act that replace elements **(3)** reasonable fear; and **(4)** the duty to retreat. If the trial court finds a defendant has failed to satisfy one of the first two elements, immunity may be denied, and the case will proceed to trial. *See State v. Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010) (“It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.”)

Section (A): The presumption of reasonable fear applies (replacing element 3) if:

- (1)** The victim was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering or had entered an occupied vehicle or attempted to remove another person against his will from the vehicle; and
- (2)** Knows or has reason to believe that unlawful and forcible entry is or has occurred.

Section (B): Section A does not apply, however, if:

- (1)** The victim had the right to be in the residence or vehicle; or

(3)⁶ The defendant was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time or used an occupied vehicle to further such unlawful activity.

Section (C): A person who:

- Is not engaged in unlawful activity; and
- Who is attacked in a place he had the right to be . . .
- Has no duty to retreat (replacing element 4) and has the right to meet force with force to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or others.

Section (D): A person who attempts to enter a person's occupied vehicle is presumed to be doing so with the intent to commit an unlawful act or violent crime.

If the defendant proves all the above elements, the trial court must conclude the defendant had no duty to retreat and had the right to meet force with force, including deadly force. S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) (2015); *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 294-297, 301, 786 S.E.2d 132, 138-39, 142 (2016). The standard for determining whether the belief was reasonable is objective. *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 320, 768 S.E.2d 232, 239 (Ct. App. 2014).

Here, the trial judge was appropriately guided by this legal structure in considering the individual facts before her in finding immunity was not warranted. Moreover, the trial judge carefully set out the facts from the hearing in her order, including credibility determinations and the reasons for those determinations. In the present appeal, Appellant does little more than complain that the trial judge should have believed him rather than the remaining evidence. That is insufficient to show an error either in law or fact that would undermine the trial judge's ruling. Stated differently, Appellant fails to show an abuse of discretion. The order denying immunity should be affirmed.

⁶ Items 2 and 4 of Section B are omitted as they are irrelevant to the facts of this case.

A. The trial judge appropriately recognized and applied the correct preponderance of the evidence burden in making her findings of facts.

The trial judge correctly articulated the burden of proof at the immunity hearing (R. p. 242), as well as in the written order. (R. p. 314). While Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in finding Appellant's version of events not credible despite corroborating witnesses and inconsistencies in Armenta's testimony (*See* Brief of Appellant, p. 30), the trial judge was able to review evidence, notably surveillance footage, and compare Appellant and Armenta's actions with their testimony. Rather, the judge was not *convinced* by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant's version of the events was true in light of the evidence and testimony presented.

Moreover, comparison of the different versions of events is precisely what is required of the trial judge. In assessing the merits of an immunity claim, appellate courts have consistently considered whether an accused's story is corroborated by other evidence. For example, in *State v. Curry*, our Supreme Court affirmed the denial of immunity underscoring that "immunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence." 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. The *Curry* Court rejected the appellant's suggestion that "the Act should be construed to require a trial court to accept the accused's version of the underlying facts." *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. Similarly, this Court upheld a denial of immunity when the record supported the trial judge's determination that the number of wounds on the victim was inconsistent with the appellant's explanation of the event. *State v. Chhith-Berry*, 437 S.C. 527, 544, 878 S.E.2d 352, 361 (Ct. App. 2022).

Simply put, the law in this state reflects a commonsense approach to resolving these fact-intensive disputes. As applied here, the circuit court's ruling aligns with this approach and should be upheld. *See State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019)("[T]he circuit court

applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court's precedent.”).

B. The trial judge appropriately exercised her duty to act as the factfinder for purposes of determining immunity.

In addition to arguing that the trial judge rendered a faulty credibility analysis, Appellant essentially asserts that the trial judge erred in her application of the elements of self-defense in consideration of Appellant's version of events. The trial judge considered Appellant's testimony, along with the other witness testimony, and was able to view the surveillance footage depicting the shooting.

“In determining a defendant's entitlement to immunity under the Act, the circuit court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense.” *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 123, 838 S.E.2d 491, 499 (2019). Those elements are: (1) “the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty,” (2) “the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger,” (3) “if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief” or where “the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life,” and (4) “the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.” *Id.*, at 116, 838 S.E.2d at 495. “[A] valid claim of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense” in considering a claim of immunity. *Id.*, at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (quoting *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266). The Act where applicable, supplies a presumption of reasonable fear (unless there is an equal right to

be in the place at issue), or excuses the duty to retreat. *Id.*, citing S.C. Code §§ 16-11-440 (A) and (C).

Without Fault of Bringing on the Difficulty

Appellant contends the trial court erred by finding that Appellant was not without fault for bringing on the difficulty for three reasons: 1) Appellant had the right to exist [sic] the club to confirm that Decedent and Armenta were leaving and to obtain the license plate number of their vehicle; 2) the trial court did not address whether Armenta or Appellant caused Decedent to stop the vehicle instead of driving away; and 3) the trial court ignored Appellant's testimony that he rushed Armenta because he believed he was attempting to gain access to his weapon. (*See* Brief of Appellant, pp. 26-27).

Specifically, the trial court noted in the written order that the video surveillance showed the initial verbal altercation between Appellant and Armenta in the front doorway of King Street Cabaret. (R. p. 315). The surveillance video then showed that the verbal altercation concluded, the front door closed, and the Deceased and Armenta proceeded to their vehicle while Appellant re-entered the club. (R. p. 315). Surveillance video showed that Appellant retrieved his firearm from an office inside the club, exited the club, and made his way to the corner of Courtland Avenue and King Street Extension toward Armenta and the Deceased. (R. p. 315). The trial court determined that Appellant's testimony that he merely exited to obtain the license plate number is contradictory to his location on the Corner of Courtland and King Street Extension. (R. p. 315). The trial court noted that the probability Appellant would have been able to see the license plate number was unlikely. (R p. 315).

The trial court acknowledged the dispute and the verbal remarks which led to the Deceased and Armenta stopping at the corner of Courtland Avenue and King Street Extension and declined

to further address the issue noting that there was ample evidence supporting that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. (R. p. 316). The trial court noted that both Appellant and Armenta testified that Appellant threw a rock at the Deceased's vehicle, which caused Armenta and the Deceased to approach Appellant. (R. p. 316).

Leading into Appellant's third point, the trial court acknowledged that Appellant stated that he was in fear when Armenta appeared to reach for his firearm, however, did not find Appellant's testimony credible that the reason he chased Armenta was because he believed Armenta had a firearm. (R, pp. 317-318). The trial court also noted that upon review of the video surveillance, it appeared that Armenta and the Deceased retreated after Appellant brandished his firearm. Appellant then chased down Armenta and a physical altercation between the two ensued. The Deceased and Armenta then began to engage in a mutual assault with Appellant, which was when Appellant fired a shot causing Armenta and the Deceased to retreat. Appellant then held the Deceased by the neck, forced him to the ground and fired 5 more shots at the Deceased and Armenta. (R. p. 316).

Appellant cites to *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 500, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101-102 (2011) for support in which our Supreme Court determined that the accused, who was a security guard at an apartment complex, "had the right to eject the trespassers from the premises, his decision to exit the building and stand on the doormat to ensure their departure cannot, in and of itself, be construed as acting in bad faith." In the same vein, the Court in *Dickey* also reasoned that "[h]ad [the accused] accompanied the ejection with threatening words or posture, a jury question may have arisen." *Id.*, 394 S.C. at 500, 716 S.E.2d at 102; *See State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. at 547, 500 S.E.2d at 494 ("testimony that appellant threatened to 'kick both [victim's and sister's] a—es' raised a jury question as to whether appellant was exercising good faith in ejecting victim"). Further, in *Dickey*,

there was no evidence to contradict Dickey's testimony that he routinely carried a concealed weapon and did not deliberately arm himself in anticipation of a conflict. *Id.*, 394 S.C. at 500, 716 S.E.2d at 102. Additionally, Dickey called 911 before ejecting the trespassers and immediately called 911 after firing the shots. *Id.*, 394 S.C. at 500, 716 S.E.2d at 102.

Contrary to *Dickey*, Appellant did far more than ensure the Deceased and Armenta's departure at the entrance of the club. Appellant intentionally armed himself and exited the club looking for Armenta and the Deceased, allegedly to retrieve the license plate number. While it was unclear who caused the Deceased to stop the vehicle, Appellant provoked Armenta and the Deceased by throwing a rock at their vehicle, which ultimately resulted in the subsequent altercation. The trial court considered the *Dickey* case in its analysis and found that *Dickey* was not instructive under these circumstances. (R. pp. 556-557).

Reasonable Fear

The trial court addressed elements 2 & 3 together, noting that "the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injuries," and that "the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself[.]" (R. pp. 316-317).

Appellant contends that the trial court did not properly consider Appellant's testimony regarding his reasonable belief for why he was afraid that Armenta may have had a gun in his shoulder bag when addressing this element. (Brief of Appellant, p. 28). Appellant argues that the trial court instead focused on Appellant's conduct prior to Armenta and the Deceased exiting the vehicle, advancing toward Appellant, and Armenta's unzipping of the bag after Appellant brandished his gun. (Brief of Appellant, p. 28). Appellant further asserts that the trial court simply

ignored Armenta and the Deceased's actions and erred in finding that Appellant was the aggressor. (Brief of Appellant, p. 29).

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